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prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 . 



   

                    
      

              
                 
              
     

                   
                 
                  
                
                 

       

                
                

                
    

                 
                  

                  
            

                
            
   

               
                   

              
                  

         

                
                 
                  
             

                   
       

                    
                  

                 
                

                

 

Message from the Administrator 

I am pleased to present the 2020-21 City of Whittlesea Budget which sets out a clear path forward for a 
strong and successful future for our community. 

The coronavirus pandemic is posing an unprecedented challenge to communities around the world. We 
won't have a comprehensive understanding of the full impact of the pandemic for many months but our 
strong financial management and good governance practices will enable us to respond proportionately and 
effectively to this rapidly changing situation. 

We have allocated an initial $2 million into a Community Pandemic Relief Fund and we will work in close 
partnership with the community to determine how that money is best spent. Council has also funded a 
Pandemic Action Plan of key initiatives to support our initial response and longer term recovery. We are 
providing relief from rates, fees and charges through our COVID-19 Financial Hardship Policy and we are 
pleased to be able to provide financial and resource support to hard-working local agencies playing a critical 
role in supporting the wellbeing of our community. 

Our commitment to our pandemic response is matched with our commitment to the ongoing delivery of 
essential infrastructure, services and activities. Council is working hard to bring our community vision of ‘A 
place for all’ to life through our four goals of connected community, liveable neighbourhoods, strong local 
economy and sustainable environment. 

We constantly challenge ourselves to rethink how we operate, to stay ahead of the changing and diverse 
needs of our growing community whilst keeping our costs down. One way we are doing this is through 
technology; such as our lead role in a multi-council Smart Cities pilot program which uses data from a 
network of newly-installed sensors to improve how we manage our public spaces. 

Our operational budget of $215.6 million ensures we can deliver high-quality services and facilities to our 
community such as; immunisation, waste collection, delivered meals, building permits, libraries, animal 
management and aquatic facilities. 

This year we have allocated $74.2 million to deliver new and refurbished facilities and infrastructure 
including the All Abilities Play Space at Mill Park Recreation Reserve. We are building a new kindergarten for 
three and four-year old programs at Thomastown Primary School and upgrading the McLeans Road 
Kindergarten in Mill Park. We will also deliver a Community Centre at Edgars Creek in Epping North and 
begin work on a new Community Centre in Wollert East. 

Council will re-open Mill Park Leisure in 2020-21 following a $25 million refurbishment. Drivers can look 
forward to less congested roads with completion of a new signalised intersection at Findon Road and Ferres 
Boulevard and the extension of Findon Road through to Plenty Road. This will provide residents with a vital 
east-west road link across the municipality by connecting Plenty Road to the Hume Freeway. 

These are just some of the key projects we are delivering in addition to our regular program of upgrading 
roads, playgrounds, streetscapes, public spaces, footpaths and sportsgrounds. 

I am looking forward to a busy and productive 2020-21 for the City of Whittlesea. As Administrator I will be 
carrying out the role, responsibilities and functions of Councillors. The months leading up to the dismissal of 
the City of Whittlesea councillors were difficult for the organisation and I would like to acknowledge the 
collective effort of the dedicated staff who developed this budget and will bring it to life. 

It is my pleasure to endorse and commend the 2020-21 City of Whittlesea Budget to our residents. 

Lydia Wilson 
Administrator 
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Executive summary 

The Proposed Budget for 2020-21 is aligned to the vision set out in the 2017-2021 Council Plan. This 
Budget has a focus on implementing significant infrastructure projects whilst enabling Council to continue 
to deliver services and facilities for our rapidly growing community. 

Average rates in 2020-21 will increase by 2 per cent, in line with the rate cap set by the Victorian 
Government under the Fair Go Rates System. 

Budget highlights 

Key features in the operating budget include: 
operating revenue of $230.72 million (excluding developers contributions, non-monetary assets and 
non-recurrent capital grants) 
operating expenditure of $215.59 million 
$11.86 million to provide services, programs and activities to enable older people to live 
independently in their homes 
$9.43 million for provision of family and children services
	
$5.22 million contribution to provide the regional library service
	
$4.83 million for traffic management services and includes school crossings and community 
education programs 
$5.87 million for public health services and programs delivered; to protect and enhance community 
health, safety and wellbeing 
$2.22 million for supporting local youth services. 

Capital works 

The Budget includes new capital works of $74.17 million and $9.70 million of works carried forward from 
2019/20 including: 

Improving roads, footpaths and bike paths 

$13.05 million for Boundary Road works
	
$3 million for the completion of Findon Road extension through to Plenty Road
	
Continued investment in roads renewal and rehabilitation programs, pathways to stations, disability 
access and traffic management initiatives around schools 

Upgrading or building new community facilities 

$4.30 million for construction of a Community Activity Centre - west of Epping Road
	
$3.29 million for Mernda Sports Hub - Mernda Recreation and Leisure Centre
	
$2.53 million upgrade for McLeans Road kindergarten
	
$2.00 million for construction of kindergarten at the Thomastown Primary School
	
$1.80 million for streetscape improvements at the Lalor High Street shops
	
$1.24 million for streetscape improvements at the Thomastown High Street shops
	

Parks and playgrounds 

$2.03 million for final stage of the All Abilities Play Space at Mill Park Recreation Reserve.
	
$1.41 million for ongoing programs to upgrade playgrounds and general landscape
	
$1.10 million for Whittlesea Public Gardens master plan implementation
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Waste charges
Whittlesea introduced a separate waste charge in 2018-19 and this charge will continue in 2020-21. 

The cost to Council of delivering waste collection services to the community has been materially 
impacted by: 

Disruptions in the recycling processing market has necessitated Council having to enter into new 
contractual arrangements for the processing of the recyclable material collected by Council. The 
new contractual arrangements have added an additional cost to Council of $1.10 million. 
The Victorian State Government's introduction of Recycling Victoria - A new economy which details 
an increase of the landfill levy from $65.90 per tonne in 2019/20 to $85.90 per tonne for 2020-21. 
The  increase  in t he  landfill le vy  will  add  an ad ditional  cost  to C ouncil  of $ 1.28  million.  

Despite these cost increases to Council, it is proposed to only increase the waste collection service 
charges by 2%. 

The 2020-21 proposed waste service charges are: 
$112.70 per annum for residential and farming properties 
$172.60 per annum for commercial and industrial properties 

Whittlesea will continue to offer an optional garden waste bin service and the charge associated with the 
delivery of this service will remain $77. 

Key pressures on the Budget 
Rate capping has put enormous financial pressure on Council to manage its services and 
infrastructure delivery in the growth context. The cap for 2020-21 has been set at 2 per cent 
(2019/20: 2.5 per cent) 
The City of Whittlesea is one of the fastest growth municipalities in the nation 
Erosion in the value of grant funding for a number of services. This occurs where local government 
provides a service to the community on behalf of the State and Federal Government. Overtime 
funds received by local governments do not increase in line with real cost increases 
State Government Landfill levy has increased from $9 per tonne in 2008/09 to $85.90 per tonne in 
2020-21 (936 per cent increase in 12 years and added $4.88 million to Council’s costs for 2020-21). 

Key Budget outcomes 
Total Revenue: $347.56 million (2019/20 $337.81 million) 
Total Expenditure: $215.59 million (2019/20 $208.21 million) 
Accounting Result: a surplus of $131.97 million 
Underlying operating result: a surplus of $15.13 million. 
(Note: underlying operating result is an important measure of sustainability as it excludes income 
which is to be used for capital, from being allocated to cover operating expenses) 
Cash result: $0.09 million surplus 
This is the net funding result after considering the funding requirements to meet loan principal 
repayments, reserve transfers and rate funded capital expenditure exceeding depreciation. (Refer 
reconciliation table 2.6). 
New Capital Works Program: $83.86 million 
- $60.66 million from Council cash
	
- $23 million from grants and contributions
	
- $0.20 million from loan borrowings
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1. Link to the Council Plan 

This section describes how the Annual Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within 
an overall planning and reporting framework. This framework guides Council in identifying 
community needs and aspirations over the long term, medium term (Council Plan) and short term 
(Annual Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual Report). 

1.1   Legislative  Planning  and  accountability  framework 

The Strategic Resource Plan, part of and prepared in conjunction with the Council Plan, is a rolling 
four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to 
achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The Annual Budget is framed within 
the Strategic Resource Plan, considering the services and initiatives which contribute to achieving 
the strategic objectives specified in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the planning and 
accountability framework that applies to local government in Victoria. 

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning
	
Feeding  in  to  the  above, C ouncil  has a lo  ng  term  plan  which  articulates a c  ommunity  vision,
	 
mission  and  values.   The  Council  Plan is pr  epared w ith  reference  to  Council's  long  term  Community
	 
Plan.
	

The timing of each component of the planning framework is critical to the successful achievement
	
of the planned outcomes.
	

1.1.1   Key  planning  considerations 
Service  level  planning 
The Strategic Resource Plan, part of and prepared in conjunction with the Council Plan, is a rolling 
four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to 
achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The Annual Budget is framed within 
the Strategic Resource Plan, considering the services and initiatives which contribute to achieving 
the strategic objectives specified in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the planning and 
accountability framework that applies to local government in Victoria. 
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   1.2 Our purpose 

Our vision 
A place for all.
The City of Whittlesea’s vision guides our effort to keep pace with the rapid changes to and growth
	
of our municipality over the next few years.
	

Our values 
• Excellence 
• Wellbeing 
• Valuing diversity 
• Respect 

1.3 Strategic objectives 

Council delivers services and initiatives under 32 major service areas. Each contributes to achieving 
Council's strategic objectives, which are grouped under four goals. 
Goal Description 
Connected community In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is a place that opens its arms to every 

resident, where all walks of life are celebrated and supported. 
Our community is compassionate and welcoming. We are healthy and 
can easily access the support services we need. People of all 
backgrounds, ages and abilities feel that they are an essential part of 
the community. We work together, making our community a better 
place for all. 

Liveable neighbourhoods In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is well-planned and beautiful. Our 
neighbourhoods and town centres are convenient and vibrant places 
to live, work and play. 
Everything we need is close by. We have a variety of quality housing 
that suits our life stages and circumstances. Every resident is able to 
get where they need to go with ease and can leave the car at home. 

Strong local economy In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is the smart choice for innovation, 
business growth and industry. 
People of all ages have opportunities to learn and develop skills 
locally. There are many opportunities to gain employment and build 
careers not too far from home. Residents support local business and 
we are renowned for our successful local economy. 

Sustainable environment In 2040 the City of Whittlesea’s superb landscapes and natural 
environment are an enduring source of pride. 
Our iconic River Red Gums, local biodiversity and precious natural 
assets are protected for future generations. Locals and visitors enjoy 
spending time in our natural environments and our leafy suburbs. 
Together, we are working to reduce our impact on the environment 
and adapt to the changing climate. 
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2. Services and service performance indicators

This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2020-21 year and 
how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also describes several 
initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations. Council is required by 
legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report 
against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability. The relationship between these 
accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below. 

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning 

2.1 Connected community 
In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is a place that opens its arms to every resident, where all walks of life are celebrated and 
supported. 

Our community is compassionate and welcoming. We are healthy and can easily access the support services we need. 
People of all backgrounds, ages and abilities feel that they are an essential part of the community. We work together, 
making our community a better place for all. 

Services 
2018-19 
Actual 
$'000 

2019-20 
Forecast 
$'000 

2020-21 
Budget 
$'000 

Exp 555 636 689 
Rev (181) (178) (166) 
NET 374 458 523 

The 'Aboriginal reconciliation' service strives to build better relationships between the wider Australian community and 
Aboriginal people for the benefit of all Australians. It operates to acknowledge the wrongs of the past and embrace 
Aboriginal history and culture. By partnering with Aboriginal communities across maternal and child health, early years, 
youth development, employment and aged care we aim to increase the civic participation and health and wellbeing for 
Aboriginal communities across the City of Whittlesea. 

Aboriginal reconciliation 

Exp 2,177 2,328 2,462 
Rev (7) (8) (8) 
NET 2,170 2,320 2,454 

Arts, heritage and festivals 

Council's 'Arts, heritage and events' service seeks to build identity, belonging and social cohesion; all of which are 
central to the achievement of the Whittlesea 2040 vision 'A place for all'. Council's strategic approach: 
• enables a creative sector that is vibrant and viable 
• delivers events that showcase and celebrate our strengths and cultural diversity 
• preserves and promotes our history and our living traditions and the co-creation of cultures 
• ensures that Aboriginal, historic cultural and natural heritage places, assets and features are retained, conserved and 
integrated  into t he  urban  design  and  neighbourhood  character  of  our  City. 
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Services 
2018 -19 
Actual 
$'000 

2019 -20 
Forecast 
$'000 

2020 -21 
Budget 
$'000 

Family and children's services 

Community Facilities 

Planning, construction, management and maintenance of Council owned and operated facilities to support Council 
services, conferences, events, leisure activities and community-run activities and groups. Specific Council services 
supported include maternal and child health, early childhood, social support activities. External services supported 
include other allied health and community services. 
Leisure and recreation 

The service includes the strategic planning and management of leisure and recreation activities within the City of 
Whittlesea. Council manages and supports community groups and organisations using Council spaces. Council liaises 
with sports clubs to support their development, community participation and effective use of sports grounds, pavilions 
and other facilities. 
Furthermore, the service plays a key role in planning for, delivering and managing Council’s leisure facilities. 
Ageing well 

Council supports older residents to age well by providing services, programs and activities such as delivered meals, 
domestic assistance, personal care, seniors’ clubs support, positive ageing programs and social support. Council also 
facilitates partnerships and advocates for social and physical infrastructure. 
Animal management 

Animal management features a range of services and programs delivered to ensure that people and their pets can live 
together harmoniously and safely in our community. 
The service includes: reuniting lost pets with their owners, pet adoptions, operating the Epping Animal Welfare Facility, 
animal investigations, establishing and monitoring measures put in place to mitigate the risks posed by dangerous and 
restricted breed dogs, attending to wandering livestock, auditing animal-related businesses to ensure welfare standards 
are upheld. 
Council keeps a register of cats and dogs that live in the City of Whittlesea and promotes responsible pet ownership 
through a series of communication campaigns and events each year. 

Exp 16,051 14,958 14,410 
Rev (3,954) (2,850) (2,972) 
NET 12,097 12,108 11,438 

Exp 1,981 2,261 2,307 

Rev (82) (189) (247) 

NET 1,899 2,072 2,060 

Exp 12,271 12,562 11,863 
Rev (8,388) (8,562) (7,577) 
NET 3,883 4,000 4,286 

Exp 3,134 3,634 3,015 
Rev (1,807) (1,696) (1,761) 
NET 1,327 1,938 1,254 

Exp 9,942 9,833 9,427 
Rev (5,733) (5,266) (4,668) 
NET 4,209 4,567 4,759 

Exp 5,507 5,833 5,870 
Rev (3,340) (3,124) (2,633) 
NET 2,167 2,709 3,237 

Family and children's services aims to improve health, safety, social and educational outcomes for children and families 
within the City of Whittlesea. This is achieved by providing high quality, evidence-based services, programs and activities 
to strengthen individual and community wellbeing, capacity and connection. Key services include maternal and child 
health and early years management and support. 
The service also supports the planning and delivery of relevant physical infrastructure. 
Public health and safety 

A range of services and programs delivered to protect and enhance community health, safety and wellbeing. This is 
achieved by educating the community about their responsibilities to contribute to public health and safety, the 
enforcement of state and local laws, working with emergency service agencies to plan and respond to emergencies, and 
by using an evidence base to develop plans for addressing major health and wellbeing issues faced by the community. 
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Services 
2018 -19 
Actual 
$'000 

2019 -20 
Forecast 
$'000 

2020 -21 
Budget 
$'000 

Youth services Exp 1,912 1,973 2,219 
Rev (142) (33) (33) 
NET 1,770 1,940 2,186 

Baseline for Young People is Council’s dedicated youth service. Baseline provides a range of programs, activities and 
events for young people aged 10- 25 years and their families. Baseline also facilitates networks and advocates for 
inclusive social and physical infrastructure that support all young people, and works closely with a range of external 
organisations. 
Community strengthening Exp 5,065 5,292 5,136 

Rev (1,064) (834) (494) 
NET 4,001 4,458 4,642 

The 'Community strengthening' service aims to enhance our community wellbeing through building social capital and 
planning of local place based programs and services. This is achieved by actively engaging local residents, community 
organisations and other stakeholders. 

Exp 4,263 4,038 3,818 
Rev (2) (3) (3) 
NET 4,261 4,035 3,815 

Customer service, communications and civic participation 

The service manages key interactions between residents and Council via the service counter, the customer contact 
centre, online service requests and complaints, Council's websites and other communication channels, civic functions, 
Council meetings and information requests. 

Major initiatives 
1.		Aboriginal truth and reconciliation - Working alongside and being led by our local Aboriginal community to capture,
	
consolidate and share their diverse stories, histories and cultures
	

2.		Welcoming cities - Working towards socially and culturally inclusive communities 

3.		McLeans Road Kindergarten - Redeveloping the facility to accommodate a further kindergarten room 

4.		Donnybrook early activation - Partnering with the developer to ensure initial infrastructure and services are provided 
timely to the growing local community 

5.		Relaunch Mill Park Leisure Centre - Maximising opportunities for residents to utilise the fully redeveloped facility 

6.		Mernda Sports Hub - Developing a site masterplan and finalising the business case for the Hub 

7.		Connected communities in parks - Increasing the informal use of parks and perceptions of safety by changing the way 
Council approaches upgrades, activities and events in parks and reserves 

8.		Community resilience and emergency management - Ensuring communities are safer, better prepared and more
	
resilient when experiencing emergencies
	

9.		Municipal law review - Closing legal gaps so issues around parking, littering and animal management can be resolved 

10.		Disability Action Plan - Developing the new Plan for 2021-25 to improve outcomes for people with a disability 

11.		Multicultural civic participation and leadership - Building leadership and participation among multicultural communities 
through targeted programs and seminars 

12.		Council Plan 2021-2025 - Developing the newly-elected Council's agenda for implementing the shared community and 
Council vision Whittlesea 2040 - a place for all 

13.		Community pandemic relief and recovery plan - supporting our community and local businesses 

Other initiatives 
•		Pest Animal Management program supporting local landholders in the Whittlesea region to control pests such as
	
rabbits, deer, and foxes
	

•		Every household will receive Local Scoop, your City of Whittlesea newsletter with a new focus on your immediate
	
neighbourhood and it will be delivered directly to your letterbox bi-monthly
	

•		We are focusing on how we make it easier for our community to work with us. Over this year, we are responding to our 
communities request to engage with us digitally and offering online lodgement of planning applications, animal 
registration and hard waste collection services 

•		We are undertaking two key community surveys, the Household Survey and Community Satisfaction Survey. These 
surveys are vital in our advocacy, planning and delivery of services to our growing community 

•		Community Events Funding Program includes funding categories to support community managed cultural events. 
Amounts of up to $2,000 will be available to support local neighbourhood events and amounts of up to $20,000 to 
support larger events 
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•		Construction of a Community Activity Centre - west of Epping Road 

•		The introduction of a Navigation and Connection program to support older residents obtain the services they need and 
the access to available supports and activities 

•		Council’s online parent portal for City of Whittlesea’s Kindergarten Enrolment Scheme allows parents to submit their 
child’s application electronically, view details currently on record and make changes as required. 

Service performance outcome indicators 

Indicator Performance measure 
2018-19 
Actual 

Timeliness Time taken to action animal management 
requests (The average number of days it has 
taken for Council to action animal management 
related requests) 

1 

Service standard Animals reclaimed (The percentage of collected 
registrable animals under the Domestic Animals 
Act 1994 reclaimed) 

* 

Service standard Animals rehomed (The percentage of collected 
registrable animals under the Domestic Animals 
Act 1994 that are rehomed) 

* 

Service cost Cost of animal management service 
(The direct cost of the animal management 
service per municipal population) 

* 

Health and safety Animal prosecutions (The number of successful 
animal management prosecutions) 

* 

Aq
ua
tic
 fa
ci
lit
ie
s 

An
im
al
 M
an
ag
em
en
t 

Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all 
animal management requests 
divided by number of animal 
management requests 
Number of animals reclaimed 
divided by Number of animals 
collected 

Direct cost of the animal 
management service divided by the 
municipal population 
Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions divided 
by the total number of animal 
management prosecutions 

Number of animals rehomed 
divided by number of animals 
collected 

Computation 

Service standard 

Service cost 

Utilisation 

Health inspections of aquatic facilities 
(The number of inspections by an authorised 
officer within the meaning of the Public Health 
and Wellbeing Act 2008 carried out per Council 
Aquatic facility) 
Cost of indoor aquatic facilities (The direct cost 
less any income received of providing aquatic 
facilities per visit) 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities (The number of 
visits to aquatic facilities per head of municipal 
population) 

Number of authorised officer 
inspections of Council aquatic 
facilities divided by Number of 
aquatic facilities 

2 

Direct cost of indoor aquatic 
facilities less income received 
divided by number of visits to the 
aquatic facilities 

* 

Number of visits to aquatic facilities 
divided by Municipal population 

2.74 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19 
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Indicator Performance measure 
2018-19 
Actual 

Transparency Council decisions made at meetings closed to 
the public (The percentage of Council resolutions 
made at an ordinary or special meeting of 
Council, or at a meeting of special committee 
consisting only of councillors, closed to the public 
under section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 
1989) 

8.51% 

Consultation and 
Engagement 

Satisfaction with community consultation and 
engagement (Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with the consultation and engagement 
efforts of the Council. This includes consulting 
and engaging directly with the Community on key 
local issues requiring decisions by Council) 

Attendance Councillor attendance at Council meetings (The 
percentage of attendance at ordinary and special 
Council meetings by Councillors) 

Service cost Cost of governance (The direct cost of delivering 
Council’s governance service per Councillor) 

Satisfaction Satisfaction with Council decisions (Community 
satisfaction rating out 100 with how Council has 
performed in making decisions in the interests of 
the Community) 

G
ov
er
na
nc
e 

Number of Council resolutions 
made at an ordinary or special 
meetings of Council, or at meetings 
of a special committee consisting 
only of councillors, closed to the 
public under section 89(2) of the 
Local Government Act 1989 divided 
by Number of council resolutions 
made at an ordinary or special 
meetings of Council or meetings of 
a special committee consisting only 
of councillors 

Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how council has 
performed on 
community consultation and 
engagement 

Direct cost of the governance 
service divided by Number of 
Councillors elected at the last 
Council general election 

Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how Council has 
performed in making decisions in 
the interests of the community 

Computation 

The sum of the number of 
Councillors who attended each 
ordinary and special Council 
Meeting divided by (Number of 
ordinary and special Council 
meetings) multiplied by (the 
number of Councillors elected at 
the last Council general election) 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19
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Indicator Performance measure Computation 2018-19 
Actual 

Participation Participation in MCH service (Percentage of 
children enrolled who participate in the MCH 
service) 

75.75% 

Participation Participation in MCH service by Aboriginal 
children (Percentage of Aboriginal children 
enrolled who participated in the MCH service) 

60.16% 

Timeliness Time taken to action food complaints (The 
average number of days it has taken Council to 
action food complaints received from members 
of the public about the safety or handling of food 
for sale) 

1.21 

Service standard Food safety assessments (The percentage of 
registered class 1 and class 2 food premises that 
receive an annual food safety assessment) 

99.75% 

Service cost Cost of food safety service (The direct cost of the 
food safety service per food premises registered 
by Council, or for which Council has received 
notification, during the year) 

$ 324.80 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19 

Number of Aboriginal children who 
attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the year) divided by 
number of Aboriginal children 
enrolled in the MCH service 

Fo
od
 s
af
et
y 

Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all food 
complaints divided by Number of 
food complaints 

Number of registered class 1 and 
class 2 food premises that receive 
an annual food safety assessment in 
accordance with the Food Act 1984 
divided by Number of registered 
class 1 and class 2 food premises 
that require an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with the 
Food Act 1984 

Direct cost of the food safety 
service divided by Number of food 
premises registered or notified in 
accordance with the Food Act 1984 

M
at
er
na
l a
nd
 c
hi
ld
 h
ea
lth

Number of children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the 
year) divided by Number of children 
enrolled in the MCH service 

Satisfaction Participation in first Maternal Child Health 
(MCH) home visit (The percentage of infants 
enrolled in MCH service who participate in 4-
Week Key Age and Stage visit) 

Number of 4-Week Key Age and 
Stage visits divided by number of 
birth notifications received 

* 

Service standard Infant enrolments in MCH service (The 
percentage of infants enrolled in the MCH 
service) 

Number of infants enrolled in the 
MCH service (from birth 
notifications received) divided by 
Number of birth notifications 
received 

100% 

Service cost Cost of MCH service (The cost to Council of the 
MCH service per hour of service delivered) 

Cost to Council of the MCH service 
divided by Hours worked by MCH 
nurses 

$ 86.96 

Health and safety Critical and major non-compliance notifications 
(The percentage of critical and major non-
compliance outcome notifications that are 
followed up by Council) 

Number of critical non-compliance 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a 
food premises followed up divided 
by Number of critical non-
compliance notifications and major 
non-compliance notifications about 
food premises 

99.51% 
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2.2 Liveable neighbourhoods
In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is well-planned and beautiful. Our neighbourhoods and town centres are convenient and
	
vibrant places to live, work and play.
	

Everything we need is close by. We have a variety of quality housing that suits our life stages and circumstances. Every
	
resident is able to get where they need to go with ease and can leave the car at home.
	

Services 
2018-19  
Actual 
$'000 

2019-20 
Forecast 
$'000 

 2020-21 
Budget 
$'000 

 

Major initiatives 

14. 

15. 

16. 

17. 

18. 

19. 

20. 

21. 

22. 

Cycling and walking - Continuing to improve the local shared path network and advocate for further external funding 

Housing for diverse needs - Advocating for affordable, accessible and appropriate housing in partnership with Hume City 
and Mitchell Shire Councils 

Mernda town centre - Developing the business case and feasibility study for the Mernda town centre precinct including 
services hub and partnership opportunities 
Aboriginal heritage study - Partnering with the Aboriginal community to improve protection of Aboriginal cultural 
heritage sites and values (phase 1) 

Traffic  management in cludes  a  range  of  services  delivered  to  ensure  a  safe  and  efficient r oad  network fo r  motorists,  
pedestrians  and  cyclists.  Programs  include  staffing  school  crossings  at  flagged  and  un-flagged  crossings,  and  running  
community  education  programs  about safe   traffic  behaviour  around  schools. 
Parks and open space 

Management and maintenance of Council's parks and open space assets except conservation and bushland areas, such 
as parks, playgrounds, street trees, sports fields and lawns. The service also includes the planning for future parks and 
open space projects. 
Planning and building 

The service encompasses the administration and enforcement of building and planning legislation, and how land is being 
used and developed from a strategic and statutory perspective. This includes policy and master plan preparation and 
implementation, and approval of infrastructure and public spaces associated with urban development. 

Findon Road extension - Improving traffic flow in South Morang along Findon Road, Williamsons Road and Danaher 
Drive to Plenty Road 

Provision and maintenance of accessible, functional, safe and well connected transport infrastructure. This is achieved 
by using best practice in planning, design and delivery. 

Advocate for better public transport -Influencing other levels of government to deliver favourable community outcomes 
regarding the Wollert rail corridor, the route 86 tram extension and bus services in the growth corridor 

Advocate for better state roads - Influencing other levels of government to deliver favourable community outcomes 
regarding arterial roads and the Epping-Wollert-Donnybrook transport corridor 
Epping Donnybrook transport study - Investigating the economic and social impacts of key transport infrastructure such 
as the E6 and Wollert rail 
Streets for people - Engaging with residents and businesses to upgrade the streetscape and public spaces in the 
designated priority area 

Exp 18,807 18,932 18,754 
Rev (5,106) (4,241) (3,452) 
NET 13,701 14,691 15,302 

Exp 3,854 4,141 4,829 
Rev (3,538) (5,719) (6,014) 
NET 316 (1,578) (1,185) 

Exp 13,551 14,837 15,210 
Rev (330) (113) (111) 
NET 13,221 14,724 15,099 

Exp 11,617 12,271 13,220 
Rev (5,135) (4,043) (4,073) 
NET 6,482 8,228 9,147 
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Other initiatives 

•		Deliver signalised intersection at Yan Yean Road and Hazel Glen Drive. 

•		We will add another 8-10 new school crossing supervisors to our current 190 school crossing supervisors to assist our 
children in travelling more safely to school. 

•		We will work with the Victorian Electoral Commission on a review of our electoral structure and plan for the conduct of 
the election of Councillors, scheduled for October 2020. 
Service performance outcome indicators 

Ro
ad
s 

St
at
ut
or
y 
pl
an
ni
ng
 

2018-19  
Actual 

Indicator Performance measure		 Computation 

Satisfaction 

Condition 

Service cost 

Service cost 

Satisfaction 

Timeliness 

Service standard 

Service cost 

Decision making 

Sealed local road requests 
(The number of sealed local road requests per 
100 kilometres of sealed local roads) 
Sealed local roads below the intervention level 
(The percentage of sealed local roads that are 
below the renewal intervention level set by 
Council and not requiring renewal) 

Cost of sealed local road reconstruction 
(The direct reconstruction cost to Council per 
square metre of sealed local roads reconstructed) 

Cost of sealed local road resealing 
(The direct reconstruction cost to Council per 
square metre of sealed roads resealed) 

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 
how Council has performed on the condition of 
sealed local roads) 
Time taken to decide planning applications 
(The median number of days taken between the 
receipt of a planning application and a decision 
on the application) 
Planning applications decided within 60 days 
(The percentage of planning application decisions 
made within 60 days) 

Cost of statutory planning service 
(The direct cost to Council of the statutory 
planning service per 
planning application received) 
Planning decisions upheld at VCAT 
(The percentage of planning application decisions 
subject to review by VCAT that were not set 
aside) 

Number of sealed local road 
requests divided by Kilometres of 
sealed local roads X 100 
Number of kilometres of sealed 
local roads below the renewal 
intervention level set by Council 
divided by Kilometres of sealed 
local roads 
Direct cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction divided by Square 
metres of sealed local roads 
reconstructed 
Direct cost of sealed local road 
resealing divided by Square metres 
of sealed local roads resealed 

Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how Council has 
performed on the condition of 
sealed local roads 
Median number of days between 
the receipt of planning application 
and a decision on planning 
application 
Number of planning application 
decisions made within 60 days 
divided by Number of planning 
application decisions made 
Direct cost of the statutory planning 
service divided by Number of 
planning applications received 

Number of VCAT decisions that did 
not set aside Council’s decision in 
relation to a planning application 
divided by Number of VCAT Council 
decisions in relation to planning 
applications 

20.08 

97.82% 

$ 106.47 

$29.48 

64 

77.07% 

$2,106.00 

43.75% 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19 
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2.3 Strong local economy 
In 2040 the City of Whittlesea is the smart choice for innovation, business growth and industry investment. 

People of all ages have opportunities to learn and develop skills locally. There are many opportunities to gain 
employment and build careers not too far from home. Residents support local business and we are renowned for our 
successful local economy. 

Services 
2018-19 
Actual 
$'000 

 2019-20 
Forecast 
$'000 

 2020-21 
Budget 
$'000 

 

Investment attraction Exp 817 759 787 
Rev (199) (199) (201) 
NET 618 560 586 

Encourage new and support reinvestment within the City of Whittlesea through networking, relationship management 
with stakeholders and promotion of the opportunities and initiatives available. 
Libraries Exp 4,753 4,896 5,217 

Rev (78) (18) 0 
NET 4,675 4,878 5,217 

The City of Whittlesea offers library services through Yarra Plenty Regional Library in partnership with Banyule and 
Nillumbik Councils. The library service supports Council in building a skilled community that has a sense of wellbeing, 
inclusion and belonging through free access to relevant collections, public programs and welcoming, accessible spaces 
for learning. 
Local business support Exp 423 455 483 

Rev (53) (75) (55) 
NET 370 380 428 

Support to businesses including guidance, assistance through other Council departments, promotion of funding and 
employment opportunities, networking with complementary businesses, promotion of business initiatives to increase 
customer base, coordination of special rate schemes, support to trader associations and case management of issues and 
planning applications. 

Major initiatives 
23.		Refreshing Epping Central - Developing a Structure Plan to enable Epping Central Activity Centre realise its vision and full 
potential for the community 

24.		Empowering small business - Piloting easier permit approvals for Whittlesea's diverse small businesses 
25.	 3-year-old  kindergarten  - Designing  the  State-funded  3-year-old  kindergarten  service  together  with  the  early  childhood  
sector  to  support  young  families  in  Whittlesea 

26.		Town Centres Improvement Program - Continue upgrading Thomastown and Lalor through appealing streetscapes,
	
consistent urban design and transformation at Rochdale Square shopping centre
	

Other initiatives 

•		Our Community Development Grants program will have two grants rounds to support local initiatives and community 
groups. 

Service performance outcome indicators 

Li
br
ar
ie
s

Indicator Performance measure Computation 2018-19 
Actual 

Utilisation Library collection usage (The number of library 
collection item loans per library collection item) 

Number of library collection item 
loans divided by Number of library 
collection items 

6.76 

Resource  
Standard 

Standard of library collection (The percentage of 
the library collection that has been purchased 
within the last five years) 

Number of library collection items 
purchased in the last 5 years 
divided by Number of library 
collection items 

86.05% 

Service cost Cost of library service per population (The direct 
cost to Council of the library service per 
population) 

Direct cost of the library service 
divided by Number of visits * 

Participation Active library members (The percentage of the 
municipal population that are active library 
borrowers in the last 3 years) 

Number of active library borrowers 
in the last 3 financial years divided 
by municipal population in the last 
3 financial years 

* 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19 
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2.4 Sustainable environment 
In 2040 the City of Whittlesea’s superb landscapes and natural environment are an enduring source of pride. 

Our iconic River Red Gums, local biodiversity and precious natural assets are protected for future generations. Locals 
and visitors enjoy spending time in our natural environments and our leafy suburbs. Together, we are working to reduce 
our impact on the environment and adapt to the changing climate. 

2018-19  
Actual 
$'000 

2019-20  
Forecast 
$'000 

2020-21  
Budget 
$'000 

Services 

Biodiversity and land management Exp 3,196 3,573 3,644 
Rev (369) (530) (335) 
NET 2,827 3,043 3,309 

The natural environment is an important asset to the City of Whittlesea and this service ensures that it is looked after in 
our public open spaces and on private property. It includes proactive actions to enhance our landscape and connect 
people with their environment as well as regulatory activities to protect the environmental assets from damage and 
degradation. 
Climate change action Exp 711 899 772 

Rev (7) (7) (7) 
NET 704 892 765 

Council is committed to reducing its impact on Climate Change and helping the community to prepare for the 
unavoidable impacts of our changing climate. This will be actioned by reducing our reliance on non-renewable energy 
sources as well as quantifying and acting to mitigate the increased risk of extreme weather events on our community. 

Exp 16,751 17,886 20,320 
Rev (4,756) (4,842) (6,218) 
NET 11,995 13,044 14,102 

Council is committed to providing sustainable solutions for the collection, disposal and recovery of waste materials 
generated within the community and through its own operations. This is achievable through the successful delivery of 
waste management strategic policy development, education programs, operational maintenance activities. The service 
keeps our city clean, healthy and safe. 

Waste and recycling 

Exp 3,942 3,811 3,670 
Rev (206) (156) (141) 
NET 3,736 3,655 3,529 

Our open waterways, built water supply and drainage systems are important parts of our urban environment. They 
require careful management to ensure that they meet our needs and are environmentally sustainable. This Service 
ensures that these assets are planned, delivered, and maintained effectively, and that water is used efficiently 
throughout our City. 

Water management 

Major initiatives 
27.		Biodiversity asset mapping - Updating our data on local flora and fauna to enable strong biodiversity decisions in a
	
changing ecological environment
	

28.		Green Wedge Management Plan - Developing the roadmap for managing our green wedge over the next decade 

29.		Climate Change Action Plan - Planning with residents, businesses and industry to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

30.		Greening Whittlesea Strategy - Planting more trees for a cooler city ready to deal with higher average temperatures 

31		Waste and Resource Recovery Strategy - Setting Whittlesea's waste and resource recovery goals for the next decade to 
reduce waste and increase recycling 

Other initiatives 
•		Continued investment in the energy efficient street light program to reach greenhouse gas emission reductions of 4500 
tons per year, and annual cost savings of $1,090,000. 
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Service performance outcome indicators 
2018-19  
Actual 

Indicator Performance measure Computation 
W
as
te
 C
ol
le
ct
io
n

Satisfaction Kerbside bin collection requests (The number of 
kerbside bin collection requests per 1000 
kerbside bin collection households) 

Service standard Kerbside collection bins missed (The number of 
kerbside collection bins missed per 10,000 
scheduled kerbside collection bin lifts) 

Service cost Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection service 
(The direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin 
collection service per kerbside garbage collection 
bin) 

Service cost Cost of kerbside recyclables bin collection 
service (The direct cost of the kerbside 
recyclables collection service per kerbside 
recyclables collection bin) 

Waste diversion Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 
(The percentage of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from kerbside bins that 
is diverted from landfill) 

Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling bin collection requests 
divided by Number of kerbside bin 
collection households X 1000 
Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling collection bins missed 
divided by Number of scheduled 
kerbside garbage and recycling 
collection bin lifts X 10,000 
Direct cost of the kerbside garbage 
bin collection service divided by 
Number of kerbside garbage 
collection bins 
Direct cost of the kerbside 
recyclables bin collection service 
divided by Number of kerbside 
recyclables collection bins 
Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside 
bins divided by Weight of garbage, 
recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins 

93.44 

3.77 

$ 43.49 

$ 24.27 

36.94% 

* signifies that the indicator is new or that the calculation for this indicator has changed since 2018-19 

18 



                  
                   

 
 

                  
              

             
    

   

                  
             

       
   

                  
                 
              

 

    
                  
               

2.5 High-performing organisation 
Council delivers a range of internal functions and activities enabling the delivery of efficient and effective services and 
initiatives. Council’s goal is to be a high-performing organisation which delivers best value to the community. 

2018-19  
Actual 
$'000 

2019-20  
Forecast 
$'000 

2020-21  
Budget 
$'000 

Our systems and knowledge 

Services 

Exp 8,567 12,310 12,901 
Rev (352) (2,007) (2,000) 
NET 8,215 10,303 10,901 

Exp 8,651 8,774 9,304 
Rev (3,299) (6,084) (4,275) 
NET 5,352 2,690 5,029 

The 'Our systems and knowledge' service ensures users can rely on an effective working environment in terms of 
technology, applications, information management, research and analytics. The service provides the key platforms 
enabling service and infrastructure delivery across the organisation. 
Our finance and assets 

The 'Our finance and assets' service ensures Council is managed in a financially sustainable way where resources are 
allocated effectively to support the delivery of the desired community outcomes. This includes rate setting and revenue 
generation, prudent financial planning and management, procurement of goods and services, and effective asset 
management. 
Our people Exp 3,636 4,309 4,558 

Rev (58) (274) (477) 
NET 3,578 4,035 4,081 

The 'Our people' service exists to ensure the City of Whittlesea has adequate labour capacity (numbers) and capability 
(skills and knowledge) to provide services to the community now, and into the future in an efficient, effective, and 
sustainable manner. 
Our governance Exp 9,092 9,986 9,562 

Rev (190) (137) (10) 
NET 8,902 9,849 9,552 

The 'Our governance' service ensures Council has adequate structures and processes in place to manage the business of 
local government in an effective and compliant manner. This includes key strategic planning, communications, 
advocacy, decision-making and monitoring/reporting activities to achieve Council's purpose of achieving the best 
outcomes for the local community. 
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2.6 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result
	

Net  Cost 

$’000 

Revenue 

$’000 

Expense 

$’000 
40,654 61,216 (20,562) 
38,363 52,013 (13,650) 
6,231 6,487 (256) 
21,705 28,406 (6,701) 
29,563 36,325 (6,762) 
136,516 184,447 (47,931) 

43,828 
6,625 

Other 1,247 
188,216 

(169,898) 
Grants commission (15,190) 
Interest Revenue (3,216) 
Other -
Total funding sources (188,304) 
Cash result (surplus)/deficit for the year (88) 

Operating adjustments 
Depreciation and amortisation 31,321 
Capital expenditure (83,863) 
Loan principal repayment (4,021) 
Transfers to and from reserves 26,395 
Capital contributions - non-monetary (102,039) 
Written down value of assets sold 124 
New loan borrowings 200 
(Surplus)/deficit for the year (131,971) 

Less 
Capital grants - non recurrent 2,815 
Capital contributions 114,026 
Underlying (surplus)/deficit funds for the year (15,130) 

Deficit before funding sources 
Funding sources added in: 
Rates and charges revenue 

Connected community 
Liveable neighbourhoods 
Strong local economy 
Sustainable environment 
High performing organisation 
Total 

Expenses added in: 
Rates funded capital expenditure 
Loan principal and interest 
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3. Financial Statements 

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The Budget 
information for the year 2020-21 has been supplemented with projection to 2023-24 extracted from the Strategic Resource 
Plan. 

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and 
the Local Government Planning and Reporting regulations 2014. 

Comprehensive Income Statement 
Balance Sheet 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Statement of Capital Works 
Statement of Human Resources 

Pending Accounting Standards 
The 2020-21 budget has been prepared based on the accounting standards applicable at the date of preparation. It has 
been updated to include the impact of AASB 16 Leases, AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, but pending accounting standards that will be in effect from the 2020-21 financial year 
have not been considered in the development of the budget. 
Standards that are likely to impact on the 2020-21 financial statements, not considered in the preparation of the budget 
include: 
AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors 
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Comprehensive Income Statement 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019 -20 
$’000 

2021-22  
$’000 

2022-23  
$’000 

2023-24  
$’000 NOTES 

Strategic Resource Plan 
Projections Budget 

2020 -21 
$’000 

Income 
Rates and charges 4.1.1 162,212 169,898 176,954 185,341 194,841 
Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 17,679 18,409 19,445 19,942 20,599 
User fees 4.1.3 6,706 6,811 7,123 7,303 7,499 
Grants - Operating 4.1.4 28,021 27,806 28,661 29,514 30,312 
Grants - Capital 4.1.4 2,762 3,865 1,150 1,200 1,270 
Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 12,218 11,987 12,218 12,865 12,733 
Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 100,039 102,039 104,080 106,162 108,285 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment 594 102 - - -

Other income 4.1.6 7,576 6,642 7,577 7,673 7,771 
Total income 337,807 347,559 357,208 370,000 383,310 

Expenses 
Employee costs 4.1.7 90,503 94,280 96,619 99,967 102,985 
Materials and services 4.1.8 71,025 72,370 71,311 73,454 74,923 
Depreciation 4.1.9 29,909 31,087 28,364 29,700 30,856 
Amortisation - intangible assets 4.1.9 125 113 102 91 82 
Amortisation - right of use assets 4.1.9 436 121 121 121 121 
Bad and doubtful debts 403 403 403 403 403 
Borrowing costs 1,244 2,604 1,764 1,521 1,600 
Finance costs - leases 73 37 30 25 20 
Other expenses 4.1.10 14,496 14,573 14,580 14,585 14,590 
Total expenses 208,214 215,588 213,294 219,867 225,580 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 129,593 131,971 143,914 150,133 157,730 

Total comprehensive result 129,593 131,971 143,914 150,133 157,730 
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Balance Sheet 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

2021-22  
$’000 

2022-23  
$’000 

2023-24  
$’000 NOTES 

Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 

Strategic Resource Plan 
Projections 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 62,717 60,575 54,898 42,565 39,005 
Trade and other receivables 11,779 12,260 12,876 13,331 13,872 
Other financial assets 146,339 141,342 128,096 99,319 91,011 
Inventories 269 277 285 294 303 
Other assets 1,289 1,276 1,294 1,316 1,298 
Total current assets 4.2.1 222,393 215,730 197,449 156,825 145,489 

Non-current assets 
Other financial assets 22 22 22 22 22 
Investments in associates, joint 
arrangement and subsidiaries 

2,360 2,360 2,360 2,360 2,360 

Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

3,867,075 4,004,890 4,166,464 4,356,898 4,539,759 

Right of use assets 4.2.4 960 708 587 446 376 
Intangible assets 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,050 
Total non-current assets 4.2.1 3,871,467 4,009,030 4,170,483 4,360,776 4,543,567 
Total assets 4,093,860 4,224,760 4,367,932 4,517,601 4,689,056 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 14,915 15,198 14,975 15,425 15,734 
Trust funds and deposits 14,770 14,770 14,770 14,770 14,770 
Provisions 19,533 20,343 21,254 22,162 23,038 
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 4,021 4,017 4,259 4,695 4,790 
Lease liabilities 4.2.4 246 117 122 128 89 
Total current liabilities 4.2.2 53,485 54,445 55,380 57,180 58,421 

Non-current liabilities 
Provisions 4,794 6,697 9,402 11,961 14,130 
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 21,044 17,227 12,968 8,273 18,677 
Lease liabilites 4.2.4 731 614 492 364 275 
Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 26,569 24,538 22,862 20,598 33,082 
Total liabilities 80,054 78,983 78,242 77,778 91,503 
Net assets 4,013,806 4,145,777 4,289,690 4,439,823 4,597,553 

Equity 
Accumulated surplus 2,620,823 2,779,189 2,952,748 3,100,544 3,257,925 
Reserves 4.3.1 1,392,983 1,366,588 1,336,943 1,339,280 1,339,629 
Total equity 4.3.2 4,013,806 4,145,777 4,289,691 4,439,824 4,597,554 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

Total 

$’000 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

$’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

$’000 

Other 
Reserves 

$’000 NOTES 

2020 Forecast Actual 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,883,796 2,491,836 1,225,085 166,875 
Impact of adoption of new accounting standards 417 (953) 1,370 -
Adjusted opening balance 3,884,213 2,490,883 1,226,455 166,875 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 129,593 129,593 - -
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -
Transfers to other reserves - (25,829) - 25,829 
Transfers from other reserves - 26,176 - (26,176) 
Balance at end of the financial year 4,013,806 2,620,823 1,226,455 166,528 

2021 Budget 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,013,806 2,620,823 1,226,455 166,528 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 131,971 131,971 - -
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -
Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 - (15,535) - 15,535 
Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 - 41,930 - (41,930) 
Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 4,145,777 2,779,189 1,226,455 140,133 

2022 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,145,777 2,779,189 1,226,455 140,133 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 143,914 143,914 - -
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -
Transfers to other reserves - (16,116) - 16,116 
Transfers from other reserves - 45,761 - (45,761) 

4,289,691 2,952,748 1,226,455 110,488 

2023 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,289,691 2,952,748 1,226,455 110,488 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 150,133 150,133 - -
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -
Transfers to other reserves - (16,382) - 16,382 
Transfers from other reserves - 14,045 - (14,045) 

4,439,824 3,100,544 1,226,455 112,825 

2024 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 4,439,824 3,100,544 1,226,455 112,825 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 157,730 157,730 - -
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) - - - -
Transfers to other reserves - (16,649) - 16,649 
Transfers from other reserves - 16,300 - (16,300) 

4,597,554 3,257,925 1,226,455 113,174 Balance at end of the financial year 

Balance at end of the financial year 

Balance at end of the financial year 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

2021-22  
$’000 

2022-23  
$’000 

2023-24  
$’000 NOTES 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Strategic Resource Plan Projections Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 

Inflows 

(Outflows) 

Inflows 

(Outflows) 

Inflows 

(Outflows) 

Inflows 

(Outflows) 

Inflows 

(Outflows) 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Rates and charges 162,071 169,667 176,742 185,089 194,556 
Statutory fees and fines 16,388 18,190 19,134 19,793 20,402 
User fees 16,453 6,779 7,029 7,249 7,441 
Grants - operating 30,824 30,586 31,527 32,466 33,343 
Grants - capital 3,038 4,252 1,265 1,320 1,397 
Contributions - monetary 11,671 11,323 11,570 11,824 12,084 
Interest received 4,111 4,116 4,147 4,179 4,211 
Other receipts 2,983 3,523 4,467 4,965 4,650 
Net GST refund / payment 15,010 11,922 13,876 16,696 15,952 
Employee costs (87,641) (91,567) (93,004) (96,500) (99,940) 
Materials and services (91,606) (95,285) (95,708) (97,828) (100,162) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) 
operating activities 

4.4.1 
83,302 73,506 81,045 89,253 93,934 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

(77,569) (73,887) (94,041) (124,435) (114,554) 

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 

653 201 - - -

Payments for investments (3,839) 4,997 13,247 28,776 8,308 
Net cash provided by/ (used in) 
investing activities 

4.4.2 
(80,755) (68,689) (80,794) (95,659) (106,246) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Finance costs (1,244) (2,604) (1,764) (1,521) (1,600) 
Proceeds from borrowings 16,164 200 - - 15,194 
Repayment of borrowings (5,309) (4,021) (4,017) (4,259) (4,695) 
Interest paid - lease liability (73) (37) (30) (25) (20) 
Repayment of lease liabilities (400) (497) (117) (122) (127) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing 
activities 

4.4.3 
9,138 (6,959) (5,928) (5,927) 8,752 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 

11,685 (2,142) (5,677) (12,333) (3,560) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

51,032 62,717 60,575 54,898 42,565 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

62,717 60,575 54,898 42,565 39,005 
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Statement of Capital Works 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

2021-22  
$’000 

2022-23  
$’000 

2023-24  
$’000 NOTES 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Strategic Resource Plan Projections Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 

Property 
Land - 7,332 1,158 34,473 -
Land improvements - - - - -
Total land - 7,332 1,158 34,473 -
Buildings 2,646 7,938 16,776 12,810 28,707 
Building improvements 10,010 7,310 8,670 4,945 8,032 
Leasehold improvements - - - - -
Total buildings 12,656 15,248 25,446 17,755 36,739 
Total property 12,656 22,580 26,604 52,228 36,739 

2,448 1,217 1,535 1,423 2,057 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 250 151 151 153 153 
Computers and telecommunications 1,064 432 1,964 806 478 
Total plant and equipment 3,762 1,800 3,650 2,382 2,688 

Infrastructure 
Roads 31,157 33,621 31,227 37,521 40,701 
Bridges 100 100 100 1,816 100 
Footpaths and cycleways 1,978 2,864 1,844 3,034 1,450 
Drainage 375 355 700 810 1,250 
Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities 

17,849 7,826 2,920 9,265 10,859 

7,764 11,952 8,768 6,974 5,385 
Off street car parks - 70 170 2,075 75 
Other infrastructure 2,712 2,695 7,145 2,310 2,375 

Parks, open space and streetscapes 

Plant, machinery and equipment 

Total infrastructure 61,935 59,483 52,874 63,805 62,195 

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 78,353 83,863 83,128 118,415 101,622 

Represented by: 
New asset expenditure 40,866 48,982 46,554 80,933 69,411 
Asset renewal expenditure 18,363 22,719 28,161 29,067 23,119 
Asset expansion expenditure 24 150 100 500 1,500 
Asset upgrade expenditure 19,100 12,012 8,313 7,915 7,592 
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 78,353 83,863 83,128 118,415 101,622 

Grants 2,762 3,865 1,150 1,200 1,270 
Contributions 20,549 19,130 28,877 61,403 23,859 
Council cash 38,878 60,668 53,101 55,812 61,300 
Borrowings 16,164 200 - - 15,193 
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 78,353 83,863 83,128 118,415 101,622 

Funding sources represented by: 
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Statement of Human Resources 
For the four years ending 30 June 2024 

2021-22  
$’000 

2022-23  
$’000 

2023-24  
$’000 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Strategic Resource Plan Projections Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 

Staff expenditure 
Employee costs - operating 90,503 94,280 96,619 99,967 102,985 
Total staff expenditure 90,503 94,280 96,619 99,967 102,985 

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 
Staff numbers 
Employees 846.6 849.6 853.9 860.2 864.5 
Total staff numbers 846.6 849.6 853.9 860.2 864.5 

Budget 
2020 -21 
$'000 

Full Time 
$'000 

Part time 
$'000 

Casual 
$'000 

Temporary 
$'000 

Executive 5,331 3,346 1,985 162 1,386 
Community Services 26,147 11,392 14,755 462 186 

15,434 9,956 5,478 - 155 
City Transport and Presentation 23,882 21,726 2,156 99 397 
Corporate Services 20,234 17,097 3,137 - 405 

91,028 63,517 27,511 723 2,529 Total permanent staff expenditure 

Permanent 

3,252 
Total expenditure 94,280 

Budget 
2020 -21 Full Time Part time 

Executive* 43.3 27.2 16.1 2.9 6.4 
Community Services 274.4 119.6 154.8 8.4 2.4 

Permanent Directorate 

173.3 111.8 61.5 - 2.0 
City Transport and Presentation 259.0 235.6 23.4 1.8 2.8 
Corporate Services 99.6 84.2 15.4 - 5.7 

849.6 578.4 271.2 13.1 19.3 Total permanent staff expenditure 
32.4 

Total staff 882.0 
*Executive consists of the Office of the CEO (including administrator costs), the Advocacy, Communication and Customer 
Service department and the Governance department. 

Comprises 

Comprises 

Casual Temporary 

Directorate 

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included 
below: 

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included below: 

Partnerships, Planning and Engagement 

Casuals, temporary and other expenditure 

Partnerships, Planning and Engagement 

Casuals, temporary and other expenditure 
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4. Notes to the financial statements
	
This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. Council needs to assess which 
components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these components. 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement 

4.1.1 Rates and charges 

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget. 

In developing the Strategic Resource Plan, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for 
future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the Strategic Resource Planning process. The Fair Go 
Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2020-21 the FGRS cap has been 
set at 2.0%. The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average 
rates and charges. 

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other sources of 
income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community. 

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average general 
rate and the municipal charge will increase by 2.0% in line with the rate cap. 

This will raise total rates and charges for 2020-21 to $169.55 million. 

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows: 

Forecast Actual 

2019 -20 
$ 

Budget 
2020 -21 
$ $ % 

Change 

General rates 149,252,358 157,642,796 8,390,438 5.6% 
Supplementary rates 3,766,819 2,138,031 (1,628,788) (43.2%) 
Waste management charge 9,010,247 9,384,597 374,350 4.2% 
Special rates 241,795 244,885 3,090 1.3% 
Interest on rates and charges 900,000 900,000 0 0.0% 
Rebates1 (959,412) (412,775) 546,637 (57.0%) 
Total rates and charges 162,211,807 169,897,534 7,685,727 4.7% 

1 Melbourne Wholesale Markets Rebate ($212,775), Sustainable Land Management Rebate ($200,000) for 2020-21. 

4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of land 
compared with the previous financial year. 

2019-20  
dollar/$NAV 

2020-21  
dollar/$NAV Change Type or class of land 

General rate for rateable residential and commercial 0.05142437 0.05147131 0.1% 
properties* 
Farm rate* 0.03085463 0.03088279 0.1% 
*Subject to certified valuation data being received from the Valuer General Victoria. 

2019-20  
$ 

2020-21  
$ $ % 

Change 
Type or class of land 

General rate 147,579,880 155,987,549 8,407,669 5.7% 
Farm rate 1,672,478 1,655,247 (17,231) (1.0%) 
Total amount to be raised by general rates 149,252,358 157,642,796 8,390,438 5.6% 
Annualised 2019-20 supplementary rate revenue 5,299,417 - (5,299,417) 

154,551,775 157,642,796 3,091,021 2.0% 

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the estimated 
total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year. 

28 



- -

                                     
                                                 
                                       

             

- -

                   
                                     
                     

 

    

- -
      

                                                            
                                                            

- -

                                            
                                                    

                                                 

                                                 

                                          

           

   

               

            

                

                        
    

   

    

    

  

    

           

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, compared 
with the previous financial year. 

2019-20  
Number 

2020-21  
Number Number %

Type or class of land 
Change 

General rate 86,894 90,788 3,894 4.5% 
Farm rate 181 183 2 1.1% 
Total number of assessments 87,075 90,971 3,896 4.5% 

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Net Assets Value (NAV). 

General rate 2,869,843,216 3,030,572,555 160,729,339 5.6% 
Farm rate 54,205,100 53,597,700 - 607,400 (1.1%) 
Total value of land* 2,924,048,316 3,084,170,255 160,121,939 5.5% 

Not applicable. 

Residential/Farm waste charge 110.50 112.70 2.20 2.0% 
Commercial/Industrial waste charge 169.20 172.60 3.40 2.0% 

Residential/Farm waste charge 7,988,266 8,751,155 762,889 9.6% 
Commercial/Industrial waste charge 594,738 633,442 38,704 6.5% 
Total amount to be raised by waste charge 8,583,004 9,384,597 801,593 9.3% 

Annualised 2019-20 supplementary waste charge 436,775 - (436,775) 

9,019,779 9,384,597 364,818 4.0% 

*Subject to certified valuation data being received from the Valuer General Victoria. 

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year. 

Council does not have a municipal charge under section 159 of the Act. 

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial year. 

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act compared 
with the previous financial year. 

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared with the 
previous financial year. 

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total amount to be 
raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year. 

2019-20  
$ 

2020-21  
$ $ %

Type or class of land 
Change 

Per Rateable 
Property 
2019-20  
$ 

Per Rateable 
Property 
2020-21  
$ $ % 

Type of Charge 
Change 

2019-20  
$ 

2020-21  
$ $ %

Type of Charge 
Change 
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4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year. 

2019-20  
$ 

2020-21  
$ $ % 

Change 

General rate 147,579,880 155,987,549 8,407,669 5.7% 
Farm rate 1,672,478 1,655,247 (17,231) (1.0%) 
Residential/Farm waste charge 7,988,266 8,751,155 762,889 9.6% 
Commercial/Industrial waste charge 594,738 633,442 38,704 6.5% 
Total rates and charges 157,835,362 167,027,393 9,192,031 5.82% 
Annualised 2019-20 supplementary rate revenue 5,299,417 - (5,299,417) 

Annualised 2019-20 supplementary waste charge 436,775 - (436,775) 

Total annualised rates and charges 163,571,554 167,027,393 3,455,839 2.11% 

4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance 

Council is fully compliant with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System. As per table 4.1.1(k), Council's total annualised 
rates and charges has increased by 2.00 per cent. 

2019-20  2020-21  
Total Rates $'000 $145,638,957 $154,551,775 
Number of rateable properties 87,075 90,971 
Base Average Rates $1,672.57 $1,698.91 
Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government) 2.50% 2.00% 
Capped Average Rate $1,714.38 $1,732.89 
Maximum General Rates Revenue $'000 $149,279,975 $157,642,811 
Budgeted General Rates Revenue $'000 $149,252,358 $157,642,796 

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges
	

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. However,
	
the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:
	

· the making of supplementary valuations
	
· the variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)
	
· changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa
	
· changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.
	

4.1.1(n) Differential rates

Rates to be levied 

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are: 

· rate of 0.05147131 in the NAV dollar in respect of residential and commercial use land (of a non-farm nature) 
· rate of 0.03088279 in the NAV dollar in respect of farm land. 

Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Net Annual Value of each rateable land (categorised by the 
characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above. 

Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of its functions. Details 
of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land, which are subject to each differential rate and the uses 
of each differential rate, are set out below. 
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General rate 
The general rate for rateable residential and commercial properties applies to all properties which do not fall into the farm 
rate classification (see below). 

The requirements of municipal valuation are governed by the Valuation of Land Act 1960. The Act was amended in 1998 to 
introduce two-yearly valuations from the 2000 general valuation onwards. A Council valuer inspects all properties and takes 
into consideration the size, condition and locality of the property and improvements. The valuer then analyses similar 
properties that have recently sold in the area and determines a value for the property based on the state of the property 
market and current conditions. 

Valuers are required to assess three bases of value: 

· Capital Improved Value (CIV) - The value of both the land and any improvements on the property. It is the sum that the 
property would be likely to realise at the time of valuation if offered for sale 
· Site Value (SV) - Site Value is what the land is worth assuming that there are no improvements, it is the sum that the 
property would be likely to realise at the time of valuation if offered for sale. 
· Net Annual Value (NAV) - In the case of residential houses, units and rural properties the NAV is 5% of the Capital Improved 
Value. For commercial and industrial properties the NAV is the rent at which the property might reasonably be expected to 
be let from year to year. 

A Council may choose one of these valuation bases for calculating general rates. At the City of Whittlesea, the NAV is used for 
calculating municipal rates. 

Farm rate 
The farm rate may be applied to some properties within the Municipality which are classified by Council as Farm Land as 
defined in Section 2(1) of the Valuation of Land Act 1960. Farm Land is used primarily for growing or grazing purposes and 
must be greater than 2 hectares in area. 

4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines 

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 

Certificates and regulatory service fees 5,790 6,223 433 7.5% 
Fines 5,564 5,915 351 6.3% 
Permit fees 6,325 6,271 (54) (0.9%) 
Total statutory fees and fines 17,679 18,409 730 4.13% 

4.1.3 User fees 

Statutory fees and fines that relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include parking 
infringements, animal registrations, Health Act registrations, building control permits, statutory planning permits and 
subdivision supervision fees. 

Forecast Actual 

2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 

Tip fees 1,161 1,008 (153) (13.2%) 
Leisure centre fees 486 563 77 15.7% 
Property leases and rentals 2,127 2,263 136 6.4% 
Registrations 1,741 1,873 132 7.6% 
Other fees and charges 1,191 1,104 (87) (7.3%) 
Total user fees 6,706 6,811 105 1.6% 

User charges relate to the recovery of service delivery costs through the charging of fees to users of services. These include 
for property and Land Certification information, the green organics waste services, fees for the use of leisure facilities, 
entertainment, equipment hire and other community facilities and the provision of human services such as family day care 
and home help services. 
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4.1.4 Grants 

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s Annual Budget.
	
A list of operating grants and capital grants by type and source, classified into recurrent and non-recurrent, is included below.
	

Forecast Actual 

2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Commonwealth funded grants 21,408 22,058 650 
State funded grants 9,375 9,613 238 
Total grants received 30,783 31,671 888 

(a) Operating Grants 
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
Financial Assistance Grants 14,637 15,190 553 
Family Day Care 1 1 -
Immunisation 33 34 1 
Aged Services 1,033 1,059 26 
Home Support 3,744 3,744 -
Social Support 324 344 20 
Food Services 301 301 -
Home Maintenance 335 335 -
Recurrent - State Government 
Early Years 846 956 110 
Health & Access 83 22 (61) 
Immunisation 132 119 (13) 
Health Promotion 32 - (32) 
Maternal & Child health 3,462 3,573 111 
Resilience & Emergency Management 60 60 -
Youth Services 24 24 -
Aged Services Operations 406 424 18 
Home Support 406 425 19 
Social Support 140 147 7 
Food Services 73 76 3 
Home Maintenance 32 33 1 
Positive Ageing 3 3 -
Municipal Road Safety Strategy 15 - (15) 
Road Maintenance 750 - (750) 
Pedestrian Crossings 661 674 13 
Sustainability Planning 15 15 -
Animal Control 1 - (1) 
Community Development 80 80 -
Other 17 17 -
Total recurrent grants 27,646 27,656 10 
Non-recurrent - State Government 
Early Years 43 - (43) 
Maternal & Child health 80 - (80) 
Waste Management 17 - (17) 
Economic Development 10 - (10) 
Sustainability Planning 225 150 (75) 
Total non-recurrent grants 375 150 (225) 
Total operating grants 28,021 27,806 (215) 

Change 

Grants were received in respect of the following: 
Summary of grants 

3.0% 
2.5% 
2.9% 

3.8% 
0.0% 
3% 
3% 
0.0% 
6.2% 
0% 
0.0% 

13.0% 
(73.5%) 
(10%) 

(100.0%) 
3.2% 
0.0% 
0.0% 
4.4% 
5% 
5.0% 
4.1% 
3.1% 
0% 

(100%) 
(100.0%) 

2% 
0.0% 
(100%) 
0.0% 
0% 
0.0% 

(100%) 
(100%) 
(100%) 
(100%) 
(33%) 
(60.0%) 
(0.8%) 
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Forecast Actual Budget 
2019 -20 2020 -21 
$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Change 

(b) Capital Grants 
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
Roads to recovery 1,000 1,050 50 5.0% 
Recurrent - State Government 
Roads & Paths - - - 0.0% 
Total recurrent grants 1,000 1,050 50 5.0% 
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
Non-recurrent - State Government 
Building maintenance and construction 1,157 75 (1,082) (93.5%) 
Parks and gardens 105 2,500 2,395 2281.0% 
Roads and paths 500 240 (260) (52%) 
Total non-recurrent grants 1,762 2,815 1,053 59.8% 
Total capital grants 2,762 3,865 1,103 39.9% 
Total Grants 30,783 31,671 888 2.9% 

4.1.5 Contributions 

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Monetary 12,218 11,987 (231) (1.9%) 
Non-monetary 100,039 102,039 2,000 2.0% 
Total contributions 112,257 114,026 1,769 1.6% 

Change 

Monetary contributions are those contributions and reimbursements from organisations such as sporting clubs for works 
carried out on their behalf, as well as contributions from developers towards specific capital works projects. 

Non monetary contributions are those assets that have been transferred to Council by developers. 

4.1.6 Other income 

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Interest 3,211 3,216 5 0.2% 
Reimbursements 3,651 2,664 (987) (27.0%) 
Sales 696 732 36 5.2% 
Other income 18 30 12 66.7% 
Total other income 7,576 6,642 (934) (12.3%) 

Change 

Other income relates to items such as interest on investments and operational sales. 
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4.1.7 Employee costs
	

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 

Wages and salaries 80,551 83,648 3,097 3.8% 
Casual Staff 753 621 (132) (17.5%) 
Superannuation 7,241 8,053 812 11.2% 
Workcover 1,700 1,700 0 0.0% 
Fringe benefits tax 258 258 0 0.0% 
Total employee costs 90,503 94,280 3,777 4.2% 

4.1.8 Materials and services 

External works (contractors) 42,325 47,036 4,711 11.1% 
Support services 8,983 3,667 (5,316) (59.2%) 
Community pandemic relief fund - 2,000 2,000 0.0% 
Design work 6 - (6) (100.0%) 
Facilities management 2,610 2,317 (293) (11.2%) 
Supplies and services 9,209 10,525 1,316 14.3% 
Plant and fleet operations 1,534 1,460 (74) (4.8%) 
Computer services 3,909 3,146 (763) (19.5%) 
Communications 1,192 1,090 (101) (8.5%) 
Catering supplies 141 143 3 2.1% 
Construction materials 893 785 (108) (12.1%) 
Travel and accommodation 223 201 (22) (9.9%) 
Total materials and services 71,025 72,370 1,345 1.9% 

· Salary movements through banding adjustments and the Enterprise Agreement 

· Increase in staff numbers due largely to growth within the municipality resulting in expansion of programs, 
services and administration 

· Includes positions which have been funded from specific grants 

Employee costs are estimated to increase due to the following factors: 

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as salaries, wages, allowances and on-costs such as leave 
entitlements, superannuation and WorkCover. 

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 

4.1.9 Depreciation and amortisation 

Infrastructure assets 21,314 22,001 687 3.2% 
Buildings 6,520 6,999 479 7.3% 
Plant and equipment 1,650 1,650 0 0.0% 
Furniture and equipment 425 437 12 2.8% 
Intangible assets 125 113 (12) (9.6%) 
Right of use assets 436 121 (315) (72.2%) 
Total depreciation and amortisation 30,470 31,321 851 2.8% 

Materials and services include the purchase of supplies and consumables, payments for the provision of services, and fleet 
costs. 

Depreciation relates to the usage of Council's property, plant and equipment including infrastructure assets such as roads and 
drains expressed in financial terms. 

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 
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4.1.10 Other expenses
	

Forecast Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 
2020-21  
$’000 $’000 % 

Change 

Contributions and donations 6,748 7,138 391 5.8%
	
Utilities 4,954 5,120 166 3.4%
	
Councillor and mayoral expenses 445 - (446) (100.2%)
	
Financial costs 2,212 2,312 100 4.5%
	
Other costs
	
Total other expenses 14,496 14,573 77 0.5%
	

137 3 (134) 0.0% 

4.2 Balance Sheet 

4.2.1 Assets 

Current assets and non-current assets 

4.2.2 Liabilities 

Current liabilities and non-current liabilities 

4.2.3 Borrowings 

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year 14,211 25,065 
Amount proposed to be borrowed - new 16,164 200 

- -
Amount projected to be redeemed (5,310) (4,021) 
Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 25,065 21,244 
Total new borrowings 16,164 200 

The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

Other expenses relate to a range of unclassified items including utilities and contributions to community groups. 

The increase in current assets is mainly due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables (see 
Budget Standard Cash Flow Statement) and financial assets. This is due in part to decrease spending Capital works program. 

Inventory levels are expected to increase marginally. 

This section of the Annual Budget report analyses the movements in assets, liabilities and equity between 2019-20 and 2020-
21. 

Amount proposed to be borrowed - carried forward 

The increase in non-current assets is the net result of the capital works program and transfer to Council of non-monetary 
assets ($100.03 million), offset by the depreciation of non-current assets ($29.91 million). 

Trade and other payables (being the amounts that Council owes to suppliers) are expected to increase slightly in line with 
materials and services (See Budgeted Comprehensive Income Statement). 

Annual and long service leave staff entitlements (provisions) are expected to increase in line with an increasing labour cost 
base. 

Non-current liabilities (that is, obligations Council must pay beyond the next financial year) will increase due to new loan 
borrowing for capital projects in 2019-20. 

2019-20  
$’000 

2020-21  
$’000 
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4.2.4 Leases 
The first applicable reporting period for AASB 16 Leases is 2019-20. AASB 16 requires lessees to recognise most of their leases
	
on the balance sheet.
	
As Council is applying the modified (cumulative catch up) approach to the adoption of this standard as mandated by Local
	
Government Victoria, the initial impact of the standard will be as follows:
	
• For operating leases existing on transition (1 July 2019) that have a remaining life greater than 12 months and are for assets 
above the low value threshold ($1,000) will need to be recognised on the balance sheet as right of use assets and lease 
liabilities. The initial recognition will be at the NPV of the future lease payments. 
• Finance leases existing on transition will remain on balance sheet with minor disclosure amendments to align with the new 
standard. 
• All contracts revised, extended or entered after need to be reviewed to determine if they contain a lease. If they do, the 
underlying asset(s) will need to be recognised on balance sheet as a right of use asset and lease liability based on a 
reasonable estimate of the NPV of the payments associated with the asset component of the contract. 

2019-20  
$’000 

2020-21  
$’000 

Right of use assets 960 708 
Current lease liabilities 246 117 
Non-current lease liabilities 731 614 

4.3 Statement of changes in Equity 

4.3.1 Reserves 

2020 -21 

Balance at 
beginning of 
reporting period 

Transfers to 
Reserve 

Transfers from 
Reserve 

Balance at end 
of reporting 
period 

Asset Revaluation Reserve 1,226,455 - - 1,226,455 

Asset replacement reserve 
Plant replacement 936 1,729 (917) 1,748 
Infrastructure reserve 21,032 (3,256) 17,776 
Tip replacement 3,712 1,008 (33) 4,687 
Land sales 4,278 4,278 
Non Standard street lighting contributions 3,398 101 (113) 3,386 
Synthetic turf replacement 1,880 10 1,890 
Environmental project reserve 6,497 523 (275) 6,745 
Traffic lights constructions 772 80 (51) 801 
Lutheran church 413 413 
Carried forward projects 9,695 (9,695) -
Technology improvement fund 4,308 (2,432) 1,876 
LASF defined benefit plan liability 3,739 3,739 
Other 3,927 200 4,127 

64,587 3,651 (16,772) 51,466 

Asset development reserve 
Parklands contribution 4,665 778 (900) 4,543 
Community facilities 90,322 10,577 (23,732) 77,167 
Car parking 28 28 
Planning permit drainage levy 1,740 360 2,100 
Net gain compensation 3,253 169 3,422 
Plenty Road duplication 66 66 
People plan reserve 571 (448) 123 
Other 1,296 (78) 1,218 

101,941 11,884 (25,158) 88,667 

1,392,983 15,535 (41,930) 1,366,588 
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Statutory reserves 
These funds must be applied for specified statutory purposes in accordance with various legislative and contractual 
requirements. Whilst these funds earn interest revenue for Council, they are not available for other purposes. 

Discretionary reserves 
There are no restrictions on the use of these funds other than as Council may itself impose. In this case Council has made 
decisions regarding the future use of these funds and, unless there is a Council resolution to change those decisions, these 
funds should be used for those earmarked purposes. These decisions about future use of these funds will be made in the 
context of the long term funding requirements as set out in the plan. 

4.3.2 Equity 

The net increase in equity (or net assets) will be $131.97 million and in the main reflects the increase in Council's 
Infrastructure, Property Plant and Equipment. This increase is substantially due to the Income Statement item non-monetary 
assets - i.e. those assets built and/or constructed by developers that are then divested to Council. 

4.4 Statement of Cash Flows 

This section analyses the expected cash flows from the operating, investing and financing activities of Council for the 2020-21 
year. Budgeting cash flows for Council is a key factor in setting the level of rates and providing a guide to the level of capital 
expenditure that can be sustained with or without using existing cash reserves. 

This analysis is based on three main categories of cash flows:
	
· Operating activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in the normal service delivery functions of Council. Cash
	
remaining after paying for the provisions of services to the community may be available for investment in capital works, or
	
repayment debt.
	

· Investing activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in the enhancement or creation of infrastructure and other assets. 
These activities also include the acquisition and sale of other assets such as vehicles, property and equipment. 

· Financing activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in financing of Council functions and include borrowing from 
financial institutions and advancing of repayable loans to other organisations. These activities also include repayment of the 
principal component of loan repayment of the year. 

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/used in operating activities 
The decrease in cash flow from operating activities is mainly due a $7.60 million increase in rates and charges, a $1.80 million 
increase in statutory fees and fines, a $9.67 million decrease in user fees, and a $3.68 million increase in payments to 
suppliers. 

The net cash flows from the operating activities does not equal the operating result of the year as the expected revenues and 
expenses of the Council include non-cash items which have been excluded from the Cash flow Statement. 

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/used in investing activities 

The decrease in payments for investing activities represents the decrease in capital works expenditure over the 2020-21 year 
and redeeming $5.23 million of funds invested. 

Redemption/(payments) for investments (maturing later than 90 days) relate to financial assets which are cash investments 
(predominantly term deposits) that have maturity date greater than 90 days. To Council's cash flow (and maximise interest 
revenue), investments are either redeemed or placed throughout the year dependent on the receipt of revenue and the 
timing of expenditure. 

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/used in financing activities 

The total of loan principal repayments for 2020-21 is $4.02 million and the total loan interest is $2.60 million. 

Total loan borrowing to fund capital works is $0.20 million. 

Cash at end of the year 
Total cash and cash equivalents are forecast to decrease by $2.14 million to $60.58 million at 30 June 2021. In addition, 
financial assets are forecast to decrease by $5 million to $141.34 million, bringing total cash and investments to $201.92 
million in 2020-21. 
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4.5 Capital works program
	

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2019-20 year, classified by 
expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried forward from prior 
year. 

4.5.1 Summary 

Forecast 
Actual 
2019-20  
$’000 

Budget 

2020-21  
$’000 % 

Change 
$’000 

Property 12,656 22,580 9,924 78.41% 
Plant and equipment 3,762 1,800 (1,962) (52.16%) 
Infrastructure 61,935 59,483 (2,452) (3.96%) 
Total 78,353 83,863 5,510 7.03% 

The 2020-21 capital works expenditure budget (including works carried forward from 2019-20) are to increase by 
7.03 per cent or $5.51 million compared to the 2019-20 forecast. Detailed analysis for new capital projects is 
provided below. 

Property 

The property asset class comprises land, buildings and building improvements including community facilities and 
municipal offices. 

For the 2020-21 year, $22.58 million will be expended on land, building and building improvement projects. The key 
projects include the construction of the Community Activity Centre West of Epping Road ($4.3 million), the Mernda 
Sports Hub - Mernda Recreation and Leisure Centre ($3.29 million), the upgrade of McLeans Road Kindergarten 
($2.53 million), and construction of kindergarten at Thomastown Primary School ($2.0 million). 

Plant and Equipment 

The plant and equipment asset class includes plant, machinery and equipment, computers and telecommunications. 

For the 2020-21 year, $1.80 million will be expended on plant, equipment and other projects. The key projects are 
ongoing cyclical replacement of the plant and vehicle fleet ($0.92 million), and the upgrade and replacement of 
information technology ($0.43 million). 

Infrastructure 

The infrastructure asset class includes roads, bridges, footpaths, bike paths, parks, open spaces, outdoor sporting
	
facilities, streetscapes and other infrastructure.
	

For the 2020-21 year, $59.48 million will be spent on infrastructure projects.
	
The key projects for improving roads, footpaths and bike paths include the Boundary Road works ($13.05 million),
	
the completion of the Findon Road extension through to Plenty Road ($3.00 million), and roads renewal and
	
rehabilitation programs, pathways to stations, disability access and traffic management initiatives around schools
	
($14.38 million).
	

The key projects for parks, playgrounds and open space include $2.03 million for the final stage of the All Abilities
	
Play Space at the Mill Park Recreation Reserve ($2.03 million), the upgrade program for playgrounds and
	
landscaping ($1.41 million), the streetscape improvements at the Lalor High Street shops ($1.80 million), the
	
streetscape improvements at the Thomastown High Street shops ($1.24 million), and the Whittlesea Public Gardens
	
master plan implementation ($1.10 million).
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New assets, assets renewal and expansion/upgrade 

A distinction is made between expenditure on new assets, expenditure on asset renewal and expansion/upgrade. 
Expenditure on asset renewal is expenditure on an existing asset which improves the service potential or the life of 
the asset. Expenditure on new assets does not have any element of expansion/upgrade of existing assets but will 
result in an additional burden for future operation, maintenance and capital renewal. 

Funding sources 

Grants and contributions 

Capital grants and contributions include monies received from State and Commonwealth Governments and 
community sources for the purpose of funding the Capital Works Program, but does not include funds received from 
developers. 

Grants and contributions are budgeted to be received to fund the streetscape improvements at the Lalor High Street 
shops ($1.50 million), road reconstruction and rehabilitation ($1.05 million), and the Whittlesea Public Gardens 
master plan implementation ($1.00 million). 

Proceeds from sale of assets 

Proceeds from sale of assets include motor vehicle sales and trade-ins in accordance with Council's fleet renewal 
program. 

Loan 

Loan borrowings will be used to part fund the Mill Park redevelopment ($0.20 million). 

Reserves 

In 2020-21 $16.84 million will be transferred from various reserves (Infrastructure Reserve, Technology Reserve, and 
Developer Contribution Reserve) to fund a number of new capital works projects. 

Operations 

During the year Council generates cash from it's operating activities which is used as a funding source for the capital 
works program. 
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Capital works summary 

Current Budget 

New 
$’000 

Renewal 
$’000 

Upgrade 
$’000 

Expansion 
$’000 

Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

Property 22,330 15,380 5,080 1,870 - - 6,132 16,198 -
Plant and equipment 1,800 1,626 - 174 - - - 1,800 -
Infrastructure 50,038 23,763 17,281 8,844 150 3,865 12,998 32,975 200 
Total 74,167 40,769 22,361 10,888 150 3,865 19,130 50,973 200 

Project 
Cost 
$’000 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

Works carried forward from the 2019/20 year 

New 
$’000 

Renewal 
$’000 

Upgrade 
$’000 

Expansion 
$’000 

Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

Property 250 - 250 - - - - 250 -
Plant and equipment - - - - - - - - -
Infrastructure 9,445 8,213 108 1,124 - - - 9,445 -
Total 9,695 8,213 358 1,124 - - - 9,695 -

Project  
Cost 
$’000 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

Total Capital Works 

New 
$’000 

Renewal 
$’000 

Upgrade 
$’000 

Expansion 
$’000 

Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

Property 22,580 15,380 5,330 1,870 - - 6,132 16,448 -
Plant and equipment 1,800 1,626 - 174 - - - 1,800 -
Infrastructure 59,483 31,976 17,389 9,968 150 3,865 12,998 42,420 200 
Total 83,863 48,982 22,719 12,012 150 3,865 19,130 60,668 200 

Project 
Cost 
$’000 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
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4.5.2 Current Budget 

Project 
Cost 
$’000 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
Capital Works Area New 

$’000 
Renewal 
$’000 

Upgrade 
$’000 

Expansion 
$’000 

PROPERTY 
Land 
Land acquisition - Construct Community Activity 
Centre- West Wollert (Rathdowne) 

1,161 1,161 - - -

Land acquisition - Boundary Road/ Bodycoats Road 
(north) 

1,605 1,605 - - -

Land acquisition - Boundary Road/Andrew Road 1,773 1,773 - - -

Land acquisition - Land for two soccer fields and 
pavilion - Epping North East DCP 

669 669 - - -

Land acquisition - One Carriage way - Donnybrook 
Rd to Merri Creek 

924 924 - - -

Land acquistion - Mernda Sports Hub - Plenty 
Road/Everton Drive intersection 

1,200 1,200 - - -

Total Land 7,332 7,332 - - -

Buildings 

Construct Community Activity Centre - Donnybrook 648 648 - - -

Construct Community Centre - west of Epping Road 4,300 4,300 - - -

Construct Edgars Creek (Ganbu Gulinj) Community 
Activity Centre 

150 150 - - -

Construct Kindergarten - Thomastown Primary 
School 

2,000 2,000 - - -

Construct Social Support Services Facility - Mernda 
Villages Community Activity Centre 

100 100 - - -

Detailed Design Preparedness 500 500 - - -
Mernda Town Centre - Community Facility 100 100 - - -
Upgrade pavilion - HR Uren Reserve 140 - - 140 -
Total Buildings 7,938 7,798 - 140 -

Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

- 1,161 - -

- 1,605 - -

- 1,773 - -

- 669 - -

- 924 - -

- - 1,200 -

- 6,132 1,200 -

- - 648 -

- - 4,300 -

- - 150 -

- - 2,000 -

-

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-

100 

500 
100 
140 
7,938 

-

-
-
-
-
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

Project 
Cost 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

Building Improvements 
Animal Welfare Centre modification 110 - - 110 - - - 110 -
Disability Action Plan upgrades 150 - - 150 - - - 150 -
Energy Efficiency Program - various locations 750 - - 750 - - - 750 -
Epping Soccer Stadium - essential upgrade 100 - - 100 - - - 100 -
Mill Park Library - heating, ventilation and 
airconditioing renewal 

450 - 450 - - - - 450 -

Mill Park Library - LED lighting upgrade 250 - - 250 - - - 250 -

Mill Park Library - new outdoor community space 250 250 - - - - - 250 -

Minor Improvements Program 200 - 200 - - - - 200 -
Office Refurbishment and Alterations - various 
locations 

220 - - 220 - - - 220 -

Planned renewal - minor works 1,300 - 1,300 - - - - 1,300 -
Recommission Laurel Street Modular Kindergarten 
Building, Whittlesea 

500 - 350 150 - - - 500 -

Upgrade building - McLeans Road Kindergarten 2,530 - 2,530 - - - - 2,530 -

Upgrade building- Stables Kindergarten 250 - 250 - - - - 250 -
Total Building Improvements 7,060 250 5,080 1,730 -

TOTAL PROPERTY 22,330 15,380 5,080 1,870 -

- - 7,060 -

- 6,132 16,198 -

42
	



   

  
   
                                                                                                                                                                                 

      
 

                                                                                                                                                                       

    
 

                                                                                                                                                                              

                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                 

   
                                                                                                                                                                                    
       
    

                                                                                                                                                                              

                                                                                                                                                                                   
                                                                                                                                                                           

  
                                                                                                                                                                               

                                                                                                                                                                                       

                                                                                                                                                                          
        
 

                                                                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                           

      
Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

Project 
Cost 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Plant, Machinery and Equipment 
Furniture and equipment purchases 65 65 - - -
Implementation of Signage Management Plan -
various locations 

200 200 - - -

Meadowglen Athletics Track essential 
infrastructure upgrades 

35 35 - - -

Replacement of Council Fleet 917 917 - - -
Total Plant, Machinery and Equipment 1,217 1,217 - - -

Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture 
Acquisition of Visual Art - Civic Centre 10 10 - - -
Furniture and fittings for halls and Community 
Activity Centres - various locations 

80 80 - - -

Management of the Public Art Collection 61 61 - - -
Total Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture 151 151 - - -

Computers and Telecommunications 
IT - ICT Network Infrastructure 50 30 - 20 -

IT - Internet of Things Sensor Network - Smart Cities 25 25 - - -

IT - PC replacement 100 100 - - -
IT - Various computer system hardware and other 
IT equipment 

257 103 - 154 -

Computers and Telecommunications 432 258 - 174 -

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1,800 1,626 - 174 -

- - 65 -

- - 200 -

- - 35 -

- - 917 -
- - 1,217 -

- - 10 -

- - 80 -

- - 61 -
- - 151 -

- - 50 -

- - 25 -

- - 100 -

- - 257 -

- - 432 -

- - 1,800 -
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120 

Project Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
Roads 
Boundary Road / Bodycoats Road (north) 3,357 3,357 - - -
Boundary Road / Andrew Road 5,152 5,152 - - -
Collector Road traffic management - various 
locations 

160 80 - 80 -

Construct Findon Road extension - Williamsons 
Road to Danaher Drive 

3,000 3,000 - - -

Construct Boundary Road between Koukoura Drive 
and Epping Road 

2,522 2,522 - - -

Construction of interim signalised intersection at 
Donnybrook Road 

917 917 - - -

Edgars Road and Eaststone Avenue traffic signal 
completion 

110 22 88 - -

Findon Creek - West Branch - Boundary Road 2,017 2,017 - - -
Install Raised Pavements on Galloway Drive and 
Pearsons Road, Mernda 

240 240 - - -

Local area traffic management schemes - various 
treatments and locations 

500 350 - 150 -

Local Road reconstruction / rehabilitation 5,550 - 5,550 - -
Local road resurfacing works 5,600 - 5,600 - -
One Carriage Way - Donnybrook Road to Merri 
Creek 

264 264 - - -

Reconstruction of Arthurs Creek Road 200 - 200 - -
Roadside hazard protection 100 100 - - -
Signalised Intersection - Yan Yean Road / Hazel Glen 
Drive 

400 160 240 - -

Station Road upgrade between car park and Plenty 
Road, Mernda 

50 - - 50 -

Traffic control devices - un-programmed works 240 120 - -
Upgrade disabled parking bays to Disability 
Discrimination Act requirements - various locations 

50 - - 50 -

Total Roads 30,429 18,301 11,678 450 -

Cost Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 
$’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

- 3,357 - -
- 5,152 - -

- - 160 -

- - 3,000 -

- 2,522 - -

- 917 - -

- - 110 -

- 766 1,251 -

- - 240 -

- - 500 -

1,050 - 4,500 -
- - 5,600 -

- 264 - -

- - 200 -
- - 100 -

- - 400 -

- - 50 -

- - 240 -

- - 50 -

1,050 12,978 16,401 -
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      Project Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Bridges 
Boardwalk/ bridges refurbishment 100 - 100 - -
Total Bridges 100 - 100 - -

Footpaths and Cycleways 
Bicycle facilities - provide new on-road and off-road 
paths 

110 88 - 22 -

Construct shared path - Bruce's Creek reserve -
Kinglake Views to Yea Road 

150 - - - 150 

Construct shared path - Bush Boulevard - Plenty Rd 
to Westfield Shopping Centre 

250 250 - - -

Construct shared path - Hendersons Road Drain -
Childs Road to Findon Road 

400 400 - - -

Construct shared path - Park Street - High Street to 
Darebin Creek 

110 110 - - -

Construct Shared Paths - Findon Road to Gordons 
Road South Morang 

200 200 - - -

Huskisson Reserve Shared Path 360 360 - - -
Improve disability access to public transport 80 - - 80 -
Kerb Ramp Disability Discrimination Act upgrades -
kerb alignment 

100 - - 100 -

Missing Footpath Links Program - various locations 250 - - 250 -

Pathways to Stations 450 450 - - -
Safe Routes to Schools 27 13 - 14 -
Total Footpaths and Cycleways 2,487 1,871 - 466 150 

Drainage 

Drainage improvement works - various locations 250 250 - - -

Drainage Improvements at Laurimar Recreation 
Reserve 

70 - 70 - -

Construct Wash Bay - Rural Works Depot, 
Whittlesea 

35 - 17 18 -

Total Drainage 355 250 87 18 -

Cost Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

-
-

-
-

100 
100 

-
-

- - 110 -

- - 150 -

- - 250 -

- - 400 -

- - 110 -

- - 200 -

240 - 120 -
- - 80 -

- - 100 -

- - 250 -

- - 450 -
- - 27 -

240 - 2,247 -

- - 250 -

- - 70 -

- - 35 -

- - 355 -
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      Project Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Recreational, Leisure and Community Facilities 
Carrington Boulevard Community Centre -
playground and landscape upgrade 

220 44 - 176 -

Cricket Practice Net upgrade - various locations 200 - - 200 -

Cricket Wickets upgrade - various locations 65 - 65 - -
Establishment of additional dog off leash areas -
various locations 

265 265 - - -

Growling Frog Golf Course - course improvement 
works 

20 - 20 - -

Implement Sportsfield Strategy - sportsfield 
upgrades 

2,000 - 400 1,600 -

Mernda Recreation Reserve (Schotter's Road) site 
upgrades 

150 150 - - -

Norris Bank Reserve Bocce Court 70 14 - 56 -
Outdoor Netball Courts Development 375 375 - - -
Public Amenity Plan implementation 250 - 250 - -
Redevelop Mill Park Leisure Centre 200 100 20 80 -
Replace tennis court surfaces - Epping Recreation 
Reserve 

50 - 50 - -

Sporting Infrastructure Major improvement works -
Sport Club Contribution Policy 

50 50 - - -

Sports Ground Lighting upgrade - various sites 250 - - 250 -

Sportsfield irrigation upgrade program 120 - 120 - -
Upgrade Coaches Boxes - various locations 55 - - 55 -
Whittlesea Community Skate Park activation 95 - 76 19 -
Total Recreational, Leisure and Community 
Facilities 

4,435 998 1,001 2,436 -

Cost Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 
$’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

- - 220 -

- - 200 -

- - 65 -

- - 265 -

- - 20 -

- - 2,000 -

- - 150 -

- - 70 -
- - 375 -
- - 250 -
- - - 200 

- - 50 -

- - 50 -

- 20 230 -

- - 120 -
- - 55 -
75 - 20 -

75 20 4,140 200 
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      Project Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes 
All Abilities Playspace - Mill Park 650 650 - - -
Bellavista Park Upgrade, Wollert 130 - - 130 -
Epping Recreation Reserve Master Plan 200 - - 200 -
Greening Whittlesea Urban Forest 150 75 75 - -
Installation bus shelters - various locations 22 4 18 - -
Jardier Park playground, South Morang 200 200 - - -
Laurimar 1C Street Tree Renewal 135 - 135 - -

Mernda Village Adventure Playground upgrade 500 250 250 - -

Norris Bank Reserve - West Park Precinct 60 18 21 21 -
Quarry Hills Regional Park - detail design 450 - 450 - -
Redleap Reserve Master Plan development and 
implementation 

100 - - 100 -

Renewal of playgrounds and general landscape 
improvements 

1,410 - 1,128 282 -

Riverside Reserve Park and Playground renewal 155 31 124 - -

Rochdale Square, Town Centre improvement 450 112 113 225 -
Street Tree Renewal program 450 68 382 - -
Streetscape improvements program - Lalor High 
Street Shops 

1,800 - - 1,800 -

Streetscape improvements program - Thomastown 
High Street Shops 

1,240 - 124 1,116 -

Treeview Drive Playground, South Morang 165 165 - - -
Vehicle exclusion fencing 100 75 25 - -
Whittlesea Public Gardens Master Plan 1,100 - - 1,100 -

Total Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes 9,467 1,648 2,845 4,974 -

Cost Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 
$’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

- - 650 -
- - 130 -
- - 200 -
- - 150 -
- - 22 -
- - 200 -
- - 135 -

- - 500 -

- - 60 -
- - 450 -

- - 100 -

- - 1,410 -

- - 155 -

- - 450 -
- - 450 -

1,500 - 300 -

- - 1,240 -

- - 165 -
- - 100 -

1,000 - 100 -

2,500 - 6,967 -
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 
Other Infrastructure 
Planning and Feasibility Studies for Future Projects 500 - - 500 -
Street Light bulk replacement program 1,500 - 1,500 - -
Traffic Management Around Schools 445 445 - - -
Water Efficiency Program 250 250 - - -
Total Other Infrastructure 2,695 695 1,500 500 -

Off Street Car Parks 
Car Park rehabilitation - various 70 - 70 - -
Total Off Street Car Parks 70 - 70 - -

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 50,038 23,763 17,281 8,844 150 3,865 12,998 32,975 200 

TOTAL CAPITAL WORKS 74,167 40,769 22,362 10,888 150 3,865 19,130 50,973 200 

Project 
Cost 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

- - 500 -
- - 1,500 -
- - 445 -
- - 250 -
- - 2,695 -

- - 70 -
- - 70 -
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4.5.3 Works carried forward from the 2018/19 year
	

Capital Works Area New 
$’000 

Renewal 
$’000 

Upgrade 
$’000 

Expansion 
$’000 

Grants 
$’000 

Contrib. 
$’000 

Council cash 
$'000 

Borrowings 
$'000 

Project 
Cost 
$’000 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

PROPERTY 
Building Improvements 
Refurbish building - Whittlesea Aquatic Facility 200 - 200 - -

Upgrade building - McLeans Road Kindergarten 50 - 50 - -

Total Building Improvements 250 - 250 - -

TOTAL PROPERTY 250 - 250 - -

INFRASTRUCTURE 
Roads 
Mernda Sports Hub - Signalise intersection - Plenty 
Rd and Everton Gardens 

192 192 - - -

Signalise intersection - Ferres Blvd/Findon Rd 1,000 1,000 - - -
Construct Findon Road extension - Williamsons 
Road to Danaher Drive 

2,000 2,000 - - -

Total Roads 3,192 3,192 - - -

Footpaths and Cycleways 
Retail Activity Centres - Streetscape Condition Audit 
& Improvements - Various 

25 - 5 20 -

Construct shared path - McDonalds Road (north 
side) - Darebin Creek to Civic Dr 

352 352 - - -

Total Footpaths and Cycleways 377 352 5 20 -

Recreational, Leisure and Community Facilities 

Mernda Sports Hub - Mernda Recreation and 
Leisure Centre 

3,292 3,292 - - -

Mill Park Basketball Stadium Redevelopment 99 - 59 39 -
Total Recreational, Leisure and Community 
Facilities 

3,391 3,292 59 39 -

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

200 

50 

250 

250 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192 

1,000 

2,000 

3,192 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25 

352 

377 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,292 

99 

3,391 

-

-

-
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. Council cash Borrowings 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 
Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes 
Streetscape improvements program - Lalor High 
Street Shops 

238 - - 238 - - - 238 -

Whittlesea Public Gardens Master Plan 433 - - 433 - - - 433 -
Streetscape improvements program - Thomastown 
High Street Shops 

438 - 44 394 - - - 438 -

All Abilities Playspace - Mill Park 1,376 1,376 - - - - - 1,376 -
Total Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes 2,485 1,376 44 1,065 - - - 2,485 -

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 9,445 8,213 108 1,124 - - - 9,445 -

TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD CAPITAL WORKS 
2018/19 

9,695 8,213 358 1,124 - - - 9,695 -

Project 
Cost 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 
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5. Financial performance indicators 

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a 
useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives. 

Actual 

2018-19  

Forecast 

2019-20  

Budget 

2020-21  

Trend 

+/o/-2021-22  2022-23  2023-24  N
ot
es
 Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections Indicator Measure 

Adjusted underlying result 

Liquidity 
Working Capital 
Unrestricted cash 

Operating position 

Obligations 

Loans and borrowings 

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 
underlying revenue 

Current assets / current liabilities 
Unrestricted cash / current liabilities 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 
revenue 

1 

2 

3 

8.26% 

362.46% 
326.63% 

9.39% 

6.96% 

415.80% 
159.12% 

15.48% 

6.56% 

396.24% 
193.66% 

12.52% 

11.46% 

356.53% 
150.28% 

9.75% 

12.39% 

274.27% 
82.40% 

7.01% 

14.00% 

249.04% 
56.61% 

12.06% 

+ 

– 
– 

+ 

Loans and borrowings 
Interest and principal repayments on interest 
bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue 

2.05% 4.05% 3.91% 3.27% 3.12% 3.23% o 

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 6.28% 13.64% 12.16% 10.83% 9.35% 14.34% – 

Asset renewal Asset renewal expenses / Asset depreciation 4 60.70% 125.26% 111.72% 128.59% 124.52% 99.53% + 

Stability 

Rates concentration Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 5 67.73% 72.38% 73.53% 73.36% 73.75% 74.19% + 

Rates effort 
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 
municipality 

0.27% 0.28% 0.29% 0.29% 0.31% 0.32% o 
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Actual Forecast Budget Trend 

2018 -19 2019 -20 2020 -21 2021 -22 2022 -23 2023 -24 +/o/-
Indicator Measure 

N
ot
es

Strategic Resource Plan 
Projections 

Efficiency 

Expenditure level Total expenses/ no. of property assessments $2,355 $2,391 $2,370 $2,268 $2,285 $2,292 + 

Revenue level 
Residential rate revenue / number of residential 
property assessments 
No. of permanent staff resignations and 

$1,529 $1,698 $1,718 $1,254 $1,225 $1,198 + 

Workforce turnover terminations / average number of permanent 
staff for the financial year 

9.00% +18.79% 8.30% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 

Key to Forecast Trend: 
+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator 
o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady 
- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator 

Notes to indicators 

1. Adjusted underlying result 
The adjusted underlying operating result excludes the impact of non-recurrent capital grants, non-monetary asset contributions and contributions from 
developers to fund capital expenditure. It is an indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide core services and 
meet its objectives. 

2. Working Capital 
The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working capital is forecast to decrease over the following years due funding large capital 
projects. 

3. Debt compared to rates 
Trend indicates Council’s continued use of debt to fund significant capital projects. 

4. Asset renewal 
This percentage indicates the extent of Council’s renewal against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in value of its existing capital assets). A 
percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are deteriorating faster than 
they are being renewed and future capital expenditure will be required to renew assets. 

5. Rates concentration 
Reflects the extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council’s on-going services. Trend indicates Council will become increasingly reliant on rate revenue 
compared to all other revenue sources despite efforts to identify other income streams. 
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